1948

R. Byron Ferguson v. J. Oscar Garrett and Stella F. Garrett : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The plaintiff brought this action to recover damages, both general and special, for the breach of a written contract for the sale of real property and for damages sustained by the plaintiff because of the breach of the covenants of a warranty deed executed and delivered by the defendants to the plaintiff in pursuance of the contract of sale.

The first document executed by the parties in their negotiations provides:

“Received from R. Byron Ferguson the sum of Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars, to secure and apply on the purchase of the following described property: Home at 726 North University Ave. and Store building, including shelving and heater, and apartment house, consisting of three 3 room apartments, including 3 heaters and ice box for the purchase price of Twenty-Four Thousand Dollars. The balance of purchase price shall be paid as follows: Fifteen Thousand Dollars on or before 90 days from date (above) and the balance \$9,000.00 on or before 2 years at 3% interest per annum until paid. Interest shall be charged on all unpaid portions of the purchase price at 3% per annum, and possession given in 90 days (Seller to occupy North apartment for 2 years, rent free).

Taxes for the current fiscal year ending December 31st, following this date and the insurance, rents and other expenses of said property shall be pro-rated as of date of delivery of deed or final contract of sale. All other taxes and assessments shall be paid by owner except the following: No exceptions. Insurance as written goes with property.

Contract of sale to be mde on the approved form of the PROVO REAL ESTATE BOARD in the name of.....

In the event said purchaser shall fail to pay the balance of said purchase price or complete said purchase as herein provided, the amounts paid hereon shall, at the option of the seller, be retained as liquidated and agreed damages.

The payment is received and sale is made subject to owner's approval, and unless so approved on or before.....days from date the return of

the money herein receipted shall cancel this sale without damage, to the undersigned.

We do hereby agree to carry out and fulfill the terms and conditions in the above receipt specified, the owner agreeing to furnish a good marketable title with abstract to date, or policy of title insurance and to make final conveyance by sufficient deed.

	Buyer /s/ R. BYRON FERGUSON
NO AGENT	/s/ STELLA P. GARRETT
	Seller /s/ J. OSCAR GARRETT

R. 8 and Exhibit "A".

Thereafter the following instrument was executed by the parties :

"We, J. Oscar Garrett and Stella P. Garrett, husband and wife, the undersigned, acknowledge receipt of Six Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Seven and 59/100 Dollars, from R. Byron Ferguson and further acknowledge that the method of payment in the certain Earnest Money Receipt dated July 29, 1946 by and between said parties is changed and amended to read:

Seven Thousand Two Hundred and No/100 (\$7200.00) within 90 days from date (July 29, 1946) and the balance as represented by certain notes and mortgages executed this 26 day of October, A. D. 1946 by R. Byron Ferguson and Faun C. Ferguson, his wife, which is part read as follows:

1 note dated October 26, 1946 for \$9,000.00, payable on or before two (2) years from date, with interest, payable quarterly at the rate of 3 per cent per annum.

1 note dated October 26, 1946 for \$3,000.00, payable on or before one (1) year from date, with interest, payable quarterly at the rate of 5 per cent per annum.

1 note dated October 26, 1946 for \$4,800.00, payable 75 days from date with no interest.

All of the rest of the provisions of said Earnest Money Receipt (Contract remains unchanged).

/s/ J. OSCAR GARRETT

/s/ STELLA P. GARRETT

Receipt of \$27.59 included in the above is for pro-rated portion of the 1946 general taxes, paid by R. Byron Ferguson." R. 9 and Exhibit "B".

On October 18th, 1946 the defendants made and executed a statutory form of warranty deed which provides:

WARRANTY DEED

"J. OSCAR GARRETT and STELLA P. GARRETT, his wife, Grantors, of Provo, Utah, hereby CONVEY AND WARRANT to R. BYRON FERGUSON and FAUN C. FERGUSON, husband and wife as Joint Tennants, with full right of survivorship, Grantees of Provo, Utah, for the sum of \$12,000.00, Twelve Thousand Dollars and other valuable consideration the following described tract of land in Utah County, State of Utah, to-wit:

Commencing 6 rods North of the Southwest corner of Block 8, Plat "D", Provo City Survey; which is also 11 rods North of the Northwest corner of Block 29, Plat "C" Provo City Survey of

Building Lots; thence East 9 rods; thence North 6 rods; thence West 9 rods; thence South 6 rods to the place of beginning.

\$26.95 Revenue Stamps.

WITNESS THE HANDS of said Grantors this 18th day of October, A. D. 1946.

Signed in the presence of

/s/ J. OSCAR GARRETT
/s/ WESTON GARRETT
/s/ STELLA P. GARRETT

— — — — —
STATE OF UTAH)
) SS.
County of Utah

On the 18th day of October, A. D. 1946, personally appeared before me, a Notary Public in and for the State of Utah, J. OSCAR GARRETT and STELLA P. GARRETT, his wife, the signers of the above instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

/s/ A. K. BREINHOLT
Notary Public
(SEAL) Residing at Provo, Utah
My Commission Expires 8-17-49"

R. 10 and Exhibit "C".

It is in substance alleged in the complaint that at the time plaintiff entered into negotiations for the purchase from the defendants of a store building, a home and a three unit apartment house located at 726 North University Avenue in Provo, Utah, he, the plaintiff, was engaged in the business of coal trucking, operating a

farm west of Provo and feeding some cattle for beef. That he had been injured and desired to purchase defendants' property for the purpose of living in one of the apartments, renting the other apartments and conducting a grocery store and meat market in the store building which were on the premises which he sought to purchase. That prior to and during the negotiations for the purchase of the premises and the improvements on the property plaintiff informed the defendants of the purposes for which he, the plaintiff, desired to purchase the property. That at the time the negotiations for the purchase of the property were being conducted and at the time the property was conveyed to the plaintiff by the defendants there was a tenant in possession of the store building. According to the allegations of the complaint the defendants informed the plaintiff that the tenant so in possession of the store building was renting the same from month to month. R-1 to 6.

Plaintiff also alleges that prior to bringing his action he had demanded possession of the store building, but was unable to secure possession thereof to his damage in the sum of \$500.00 per month from November 1st, 1946 until he secured possession thereof, \$1050 loss on the sale of cattle and \$300.00 feed bill on the cattle which he held for the purpose of selling at retail in the store building and \$200.00 for the depreciation of the equipment which he bought for use in the store building and for costs. That the reasonable rental value of the store building was and is \$150.00 per month.

In their answer the defendants admit the execution of the written instruments above mentioned. They also admit that demand was made for the possession of the store building. They deny that they informed the plaintiff that the tenant, who was in possession of the store building was leasing such building from month to month and they allege the fact to be that they, the defendants, during the negotiations for the sale of the property, informed the plaintiff that the store building was leased and that possession of the property would be given subject to the lease on the store building. R. 19 to 24. The lease on the store building was admitted in evidence as defendants' Exhibit 1.

At the trial the parties offered evidence in support of their respective allegations. At the conclusion of the evidence and argument of counsel the trial court found the issues in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff and entered judgment accordingly. Plaintiff prosecutes this appeal from the judgment so entered.

There are two fundamental questions presented for determination on this appeal. They are:

1. Is parol evidence competent to vary the terms of a written contract for the sale of real estate and of a statutory Warranty Deed given to consummate such contract?

2. In case of a breach of a contract for the sale of real estate and of the covenants contained in a Warranty Deed may the injured party recover special damages for the breach, or is such injured party limited to re-

cover merely the reasonable rental value of the property during the time he is deprived of the possession thereof?

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The plaintiff and appellant assigns the following errors upon which he relies for a reversal of the judgment appealed from:

1. The trial court erred in denying the motion to strike the following allegations from paragraph 6 on page 2 of defendants' answer, "and in that connection alleges that prior to its execution by defendants they advised plaintiff that they would deliver possession of said premises subject to the existing leases and tenancies existing thereon and prior to July 29, 1946, including the leases on the store building." R. 28 and Tr. 1.

2. The trial court erred in denying the motion to strike the following allegations from paragraph 10 on page 3 of defendants' answer, "subject to all leases and tenancies existing thereon" and in that connection allege that prior to July 29, 1946 defendants specifically informed plaintiff that they could not and would not deliver possession of the said store building as the tenant therein occupied same under a lease which had not expired, and being so informed the plaintiff agreed and undertook in the agreement of sale of said premises to accept possession of said store building and premises, subject to said leases hereinafter set forth in defendants' affirmative answer." R. 28 and Tr. 1.

3. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 11 on page 3 of defendants' answer the following: "and in that connection the defendants allege that possession of same was delivered strictly in accordance with the agreement between plaintiff and defendants and subject to leases and tenancies existing on said premises including the store building lease as hereinafter alleged." R. 28.

4. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 11 on page 3 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "and subject to leases and tenancies existing on said premises including store building lease as hereinafter alleged."

5. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from defendants' answer the following allegation: "that during those negotiations and on or about July 15, 1946, defendants advised plaintiff that one Haddock had possession of the store building situated on said premises under a lease." R. 28 and Tr. 1.

6. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 2 on page 4 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "and that defendants would be unable to remove said tenant." R. 28 and Tr. 1.

7. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 2 on page 4 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "and if the sale was made plaintiff would have to take possession of said store subject to the tenants rights under said lease." R. 28 and Tr. 1.

8. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 2 on page 4 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "that the plaintiff being so advised and fully informed concerning said Haddock lease on the store building then and there undertook and agreed that if defendants would sell said premises to him that he would assume the obligation of getting the Haddocks out of the store." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

9. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 2 on page 4 of the defendants' answer the following allegation: "and plaintiff further stated to defendants that while he was waiting for the Haddocks to vacate said store he had other things he could be doing, to-wit: operate his coal business, operate his farm and orchard in Orem, Utah, operate his real estate and his insurance business." R. 29.

10. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 3 on page 4 of the defendants' answer the following allegation: "that pursuant to the said agreement of plaintiff to purchase the said premises subject to the rights of the tenants in possession and particularly tenant Haddock's rights under his lease for said store building, the defendants signed said earnest money memorando Exhibits "A" and "B", aforesaid, on July 29 and October 26, 1946, respectively." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

11. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 3, page 4 of the defendants' answer the following allegation: "that further in pursuance of said Agreement and on or about August 3, 1946, defendants

notified their tenant Haddock that the plaintiff was the new owner of said premises, including the store building occupied by him, and to pay rent to him thereafter.”

R. 29 and Tr. 1.

12. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 3 on page 4, of the defendants’ answer the following allegation: “and that pursuant to said plaintiff’s agreement, and not otherwise, defendants on November 1, 1946, delivered possession of the entire premises, including said store building to plaintiff.” R. 29 and Tr. 1.

13. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 3 on page 4 of the defendants’ answer the following allegation: “subject to the existing rights of tenants occupying said premises, and particularly the lease rights of said tenant Haddock in said store building.” R. 29 and Tr. 1.

14. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 3 on page 5 of defendants’ answer the following allegation: “and that plaintiff received possession of said premises as aforesaid on said last mentioned date and now has same, and has had and enjoyed same at all times since.” R. 29 and Tr. 1.

15. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 4 on page 5 of defendants’ answer the following allegation: “That within a day or two after said agreement was made, on or about August 1, 1946, so defendants are informed and believe, the plaintiff went

to the said tenant Haddock and demanded immediate possession of said store building, and said tenant refused to surrender possession thereof to the plaintiff stating to him that his (Haddock's) lease had not expired." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

16. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 4, page 5, of defendants' answer the following allegation: "that subsequently and on or about October 16, 1946, plaintiff advised defendants that said Haddock refused to surrender possession of said store building, at which time defendants offered to call the whole deal off and postpone it until said Haddock's lease had expired." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

17. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 4, page 5 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "but that plaintiff then and there advised defendants that he was not worried, and that he could get the Haddocks out of the store building in 30 days and that he wanted to go through with the deal." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

18. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 4 on page 5 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "that thereupon defendants reminded plaintiff of his agreement to accept possession of said store building subject to Haddock's lease rights and that plaintiff was going to do other things until said lease expired, whereupon the plaintiff told defendants he had changed his mind." R. 29 and Tr. 1.

19. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 5 on page 5 of defendants' answer the following allegation: "that defendants have fully performed their agreement with plaintiff for the sale of said premises, and have delivered possession of the same, and particularly the said store building, to the plaintiff in accordance with the said agreement subject to the lease rights of the said tenant Haddock." R. 30 and Tr. 1.

20. The trial court erred in refusing to strike from paragraph 6 on page 5 of the defendants' answer the following allegation: "that if the plaintiff has suffered any damage by reason of said transaction, it is not due to any failure of defendants to perform their said agreement, but is a result of the plaintiff's own breach of his agreement to accept possession of said premises subject to the right of said tenant Haddock to possession of said store building." R. 30 and Tr. 1.

21. The trial court erred in overruling the objections to the testimony of Mrs. Haddock touching the tender of checks to Mr. Ferguson and the admission in evidence of such checks. Tr. 46-50.

22. The trial court erred in sustaining objection to the following question asked plaintiff: "How much did it cost you to feed the cattle from November 1st, 1946 until the time you sold them?" Tr. 65-66.

23. The trial court erred in striking the following answer of the plaintiff: "I had made arrangements with the Provo Packing Company by the steel plant to slaughter these cattle as I needed them and hold them in their

ice box, cure them. They were to be sold over the counter, meat counter." Tr. 66.

24 The trial court erred in sustaining objection to the following question asked plaintiff: "What were your earnings in the last few months that you were in the coal trucking business?" Tr. 67.

24. The trial court erred in sustaining the objection to the following question: "Now from the amount you did earn when you went in the real estate business, do you have a judgment what you could have earned by way of commission with Rowan & Grow?" Tr. 74.

25. The trial court erred in sustaining the objection to the following question asked of the plaintiff: "Well how much did you make on an average in the real estate business after you did get in the real estate business, for the ensuing few months?" Tr. 75.

In order that the court may better understand the assigned errors touching the admission of parol evidence touching the terms of the written contract and warranty deed we quote the following from the objections of one of counsel for the plaintiff:

"If the court please, at this time, in order to save time and not keep butting in, we object to any conversation had if it is intended by the conversation to vary the terms of this written instrument that has been offered in evidence, any conversation if it is calculated in any way to vary the terms of the written instrument, the contract, the written contract, and warranty deed. We

would like to have it understood any such testimony is objected to without interposing that objection too frequently. Of course, we can object to them as they come up, if that is preferable. We thought we would save time.” Tr. 138.

“The court: The record may show your objection against the same, for the purpose indicated.” Tr. 138.

26. The trial court erred in admitting and in refusing to strike that part of the testimony of Mrs. Garrett where she testified: “That Mr. Garrett said ‘I have people with a contract on the store and I can’t let you have the store.’ He said: ‘Well that don’t make any difference to me’.” Tr. 140.

27. The trial court erred in admitting in evidence and refusing to strike the following testimony of Mrs. Garrett: “as Mr. Ferguson, as he had said he would take the property with the lease.” Tr. 144.

28. The trial court erred in admitting in evidence and in refusing to strike the following testimony of Mrs. Garrett: “I know that was the time that Mr. Garrett said that when the Haddocks lease had expired, at the expiration of two years lease, he thought the contract or lease was on a month to month basis, and that the Haddocks thought the clause in the lease gave them the privilege of staying another two years. Then Mr. Ferguson asked about the clause in the lease, and he said he was not worried about the lease, or the clause in the lease, that he could easily get the Haddocks out in thirty days. Mr. Garrett says: ‘Now, Mr. Ferguson, you know I must

have Haddocks taken care of.' He says: 'Sure, sure'." Tr. 148.

29. The trial court erred in permitting Mrs. Garrett to testify and in refusing to strike the following part of her testimony: "Q. Is that a week after July 29th? A. The 29th. I would say around Thursday or Friday, Mr. Ferguson came to my door and said: 'Mrs. Garrett, will you tell me exactly how your lease reads with the Haddocks?' I said: 'Our lease calls for an option of staying two years and there is a clause in the lease giving them the privilege of staying two more years.' Mr. Ferguson said: 'Did they ever serve any papers on you, any writing about it.' I said: 'No.' He said: 'Then it is not worth the paper it is written on'." Tr. 150.

30. The trial court erred in permitting Mrs. Garrett to testify and in refusing to strike the following testimony: "Mr. Ferguson said, 'Mrs. Garrett, will you tell Mr. Garrett to get the Haddocks out of the store?' I said: 'Mr. Ferguson we understood you didn't want the store.' He said: I have changed my mind; my lawyer says I can get the Haddocks out of the store'. I said: 'Mr. Ferguson, why don't you get them out?' He said: 'Because my lawyer said it is Mr. Garrett's place to get them out'." Tr. 153.

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