1948

R. Byron Ferguson v. J. Oscar Garrett and Stella F. Garrett : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ing so advised and fully informed concerning said Haddock lease on the store building, then and there undertook and agreed that if defendants would sell said premises to him that he would assume the obligation of getting the Haddocks out of the store " (R-22).

Clearly then, under the pleadings the issue became: What was the prior oral agreement respecting delivery of possession of the store? The agreement in this regard, which plaintiff attempts to show is a collateral one to the written agreement in question. Indeed, plaintiff's whole case rests upon the oral agreement made between these parties prior to or contemporaneous with the written contract in question, as does defendants' defense thereto. Both parties claim that this prior oral agreement was the inducement held out to each of them to enter into the written agreement. Both parties were allowed to give evidence on this matter, the plaintiff: That the defendants represented to him that the tenant could and would be removed from the store within 90 days and plaintiff given possession,—the defendants: That plaintiff represented that if they would sell to him he would accept possession of the store subject to the tenant's rights. The Court heard all the evidence and found generally in accordance with the defendant's version of the prior oral agreement. We contend that the Court's action in do doing did not offend against the parol evidence rule.

We have no quarrel with the parol evidence rule as set out in counsel's brief and the Utah cases they cite sustaining it. We shall call attention, however, to certain exceptions or areas where the rule has no application. Our position is that there is no error in the trial court's ruling either on the motion to strike, the admission of evidence,

or the making of findings and judgment, because the parole evidence rule has no application to the issues in this case as drawn by the pleadings. We base our position upon the three legal propositions to follow:

I. THE PLAINTIFF, HAVING ALLEGED AND GIVEN EVIDENCE OF THE ORAL AGREEMENT AS TO POSSESSION OF THE STORE PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION OF THE WRITTEN CONTRACT, THE DEFENDANTS ARE NOT PRECLUDED BY THE PAROLE EVIDENCE RULE FROM ALLEGING AND GIVING EVIDENCE OF THEIR VERSION OF THIS ORAL AGREEMENT.

As indicated above, it was plaintiff who, in his pleadings and proof, opened up the prior oral agreement with respect to the possession of the store, and this regardless of the provision in the written contract "possession given in 90 days." However, when defendants attempt to allege their version of the same prior oral agreement as to possession of the store and give evidence in support thereof, the plaintiff invokes the parole evidence rule as a barrier to defendants doing so. It is true that counsel concede (Br. 24) that defendants would have right to deny plaintiff's allegations concerning the prior oral agreement, but it is contended that the denial would go no farther than the special damage matter. In effect, counsel contend that plaintiff can allege and prove a prior oral agreement concerning possession of the store, the breach of which he claims entitled him to damages, but that by means of the parole evidence rule he can preclude the defendants from either alleging or proving their version of the same oral agreement in defense. Plaintiff's position is untenable, and

the law is against him. The general rule of law governing such a case is stated in 2 Jones on Evidence, 4th Ed., section 434, at page 824:

"An apparent departure from the rule is presented by the practice whereby, if one party is permitted to introduce extrinsic evidence to vary a written contract, his adversary is permitted to resort to such evidence to uphold the contract, even though it tends to vary or contradict the words of the writing which he seeks to support."

The rule was applied in *Richeson, et al, v. Wood*, 158 Va. 269, 163 S. E. 339, 82 A. L. R. 1189. This was a suit on a written contract claimed by the defendant to be usurious. The defendant borrower gave oral evidence as to usury, and attempted to bar the plaintiff from giving oral evidence in the support of the legality of the contract by pleading the parol evidence rule. The court, in holding that parol evidence rule did not preclude such evidence, had the following to say:

"When, however, the borrower has alleged and introduced evidence tending to prove that a written contract, legal on its face, was in fact illegal in its inception, because executed by him for an usurious consideration, upon that issue, the lender, or other party seeking to support the legality of the contract, may, without violating the parol evidence rule, introduce any competent extrinsic evidence, which is relevant and material to show that the contract was in fact executed for a legal consideration. And this is true though such evidence may tend to vary or contradict the terms of or recitals in the written instrument, or tend to prove a consideration different from either that expressed in the contract, or alleged by the borrower." (A. L. R. p. 1195).

"The rule above announced is also consonant with the rule that where one party has been permitted to introduce extrinsic evidence of the facts and circumstances leading up to and connected with the execution of a written contract, the other party may introduce evidence as to the same matters, notwithstanding that the evidence offered by him tends to vary or contradict the writing. 22 C. J. (Evidence) p. 1295, and cases there cited in note 96." (A. L. R. p. 1197).

See also 20 Am. Jur. 964 and 1013, citing *Bogk v. Gassert*, 149 U. S. 17, 37 L. Ed. 631, 13 Sup. Ct. Rep. 738. In that case the plaintiffs sued defendant Bogk upon a lease of certain premises in Butte, Montana, praying for judgment of restitution and damages. At the trial defendant Bogk gave evidence of conversations had with the plaintiffs leading up to the execution of the lease and which showed that the transaction respecting the real property covered by the lease was to mortgage same to the plaintiffs rather than to sell it to them. The plaintiffs were allowed in rebuttal of this testimony of defendant Bogk to give their version of the conversations leading up to the making of the lease. It was objected that it was error to allow plaintiff to so testify in view of the Montana Statute, which embodies the common law, providing that parol evidence shall not be admitted to show the terms of agreements that have been reduced to writing except in cases of ambiguity, mistake, or fraud. The Supreme Court, in holding that there was no error and affirming the judgment of the lower court, had the following to say on this point:

"In rebuttal, Steel and Gassert were put upon the stand and asked as to the conversation which took place at the attorney's office at the time the deeds and

contract to reconvey were made. This conversation was admitted, and defendant excepted. Now, while this might have been improper as original testimony, it would have been manifestly unfair to permit Bogk to give his version of the transaction, gathered from conversation between the parties, and to deny the plaintiffs the privilege of giving their version of it. The defendant himself, having thrown the bars down, has evidently no right to object to the plaintiffs having taken advantage of the license thereby given to submit to the jury their understanding of the agreement. The Code is merely in affirmance of the common law rule, and was evidently not intended to apply to a case of this kind." (Sup. Ct. Rep., p. 740).

The plaintiff in the case at bar, having opened up the matter of the prior oral agreement which led up to the execution of the written contract in question, cannot thereafter preclude the defendants from pleading and proving their version of the oral agreement by relying on the parol evidence rule. Neither can counsel at this late date say that "nowhere in the complaint does the plaintiff question the fact that the written instruments constitute the complete agreement." How about the above mentioned quotation from plaintiff's complaint? It makes no difference what purpose plaintiff had in mind in going into the oral agreement prior to the execution of the written contract. The law is that if he does so, he cannot thereafter preclude the defendants from pleading their version of the same.

II. THE PLAINTIFF, HAVING MADE A COLLATERAL ORAL AGREEMENT AS TO POSSESSION OF THE STORE PRIOR TO AND AS AN INDUCEMENT FOR DEFENDANTS TO ENTER INTO THE WRITTEN

CONTRACT, THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE DOES NOT PREVENT ADMITTING ORAL EVIDENCE SHOWING WHAT THE COLLATERAL AGREEMENT WAS.

As indicated above, plaintiff, in his complaint and by oral evidence supporting it, claims that prior to the execution of the written agreement, the defendants represented to him that they could and would get the tenant out of the store and deliver possession of same to plaintiff within 90 days. The defendants, denying this, claim by pleadings and proof that plaintiff represented to them that he would be willing to take possession of the store within 90 days and agreed to do it subject to the rights of the tenant. Both parties respectively claim that the representation made to each by the other was the inducement for the entering into and execution of the written contract in question. Under these circumstances, can plaintiff, by pleading the parol evidence rule, cut off the right of the defendants to assert in pleadings and proof their right to show what the prior oral inducement agreement was? The law is clear on this point and generally is to the effect that the plaintiff cannot orally represent that he would accept the premises subject to the Haddock lease in order to induce the defendants to enter into a written contract, and then come into court and hide behind the parol evidence rule to preclude the defendants from showing what the oral representations were prior to the making of the written contract. The general rule of law is stated in 32 C. J. S., p. 970.

“The parol evidence rule does not preclude the admission of extrinsic evidence of a valid or prior contemporaneous parol agreement which is collateral both

in form and substance in that, although related in a general sense to the written instrument in question, it is independent thereof and does not vary or contradict the express or implied provisions thereof nor invade the particular field which the instrument undertakes expressly or impliedly to cover, but instead has for its subject a matter which the parties might naturally deal with separately."

"Generally speaking, a collateral agreement which constituted part of the consideration for a written agreement, or operated as an inducement for entering into it, may be shown by parol evidence; but there is some divergence of authority as to the limitations of the rule."

See also 22 C. J., page 1253, and cases cited in note 40; 20 Am. Jur. section 1141, page 994, citing cases in note 13, one of which is *Frederick v. Ludwig*, 112 Okla. 217, 240 Pac. 1049. In that case the suit was on some promissory notes. These notes had been executed by defendants in settlement of an account which had run between plaintiffs and defendants over a long period of time. At the trial, defendants offered to show an oral agreement whereby the plaintiff agreed that if the amount of the notes was not correct because of errors made in computing the account, that "he would correct any errors and credit them on the note." This evidence was objected to on the grounds that the parol evidence rule prevented its being received. The Court excluded the evidence, but on appeal this was held to be reversible error. The Court cites with approval 10 R. C. L. 1059, which is as follows:

"The evidence of a contemporaneous parol agreement between the parties under the influence of which note * * * or contract has been signed, which is

violated as soon as it has accomplished its purpose in securing the execution of the paper, may always be shown when the enforcement of the paper is attempted."

The same doctrine was applied in *McGregor v. Farmers'-Merchants Bank & Trust Co., et al* (1935) 180 Wash. 440, 40 P2d. 144. McGregor brought the action to establish a preferred claim against the general funds of the defendant bank in liquidation. McGregor had a check payable to himself for \$1,000.00 drawn on Coffman-Dobson Bank. He endorsed and presented the check to the defendant bank requesting payment in \$50.00 bills. The cashier advised McGregor that he only had \$500.00 in \$50.00 bills on hand and requested McGregor to take those bills and deposit the remainder with the bank, which plaintiff refused to do. It was then agreed between McGrgor and the cashier that plaintiff should take \$500.00 in \$50.00 bills and that the bank should hold the remaining sum of \$500.00 and exchange it for \$50.00 bills as soon as convenient and promptly notify respondent when the exchange had been made. McGregor then requested a receipt for the \$500.00 represented by the uncollected portion of the \$1,000.00 check. In response to the request, the cashier drew a cashier's check for \$500.00 payable to Charles McGregor, absolute and in negotiable form. The check was handed to McGregor by the cashier with the statement that it "was the same as a receipt," or that it "would answer the same purpose as a receipt." McGregor did not question the statement, but took the cashier's word for it. The bank collected the \$1,000.00 check but did not notify McGregor that it had obtained the \$50.00 bills, and before plaintiff could call at

the bank, it was taken over by the State Banking Department as an insolvent concern. McGregor presented a preferred claim to the supervisor in charge of the bank, but the latter denied it as such and allowed it only as a general claim. Whereupon this action was instituted. At the trial McGregor was allowed to prove the oral agreement with the cashier of the bank that the cashier's check was merely a receipt. This proof was allowed over the objection of the defendant that the parol evidence rule prevented the receipt of such evidence on the grounds that it varied the terms of the cashier's check, which was absolute in form. On appeal the judgment of the trial court was affirmed and the plaintiff was permitted to recover the \$500.00 as a preferred claim. The opinion is concerned with the parol evidence rule question raised on the appeal. In this regard the Court had the following to say:

"Certain exceptions to the rule are as firmly established as the rule itself. In fact, they may be said to be a part of the rule. We mention only one or two of the exceptions, which we conceive to be applicable here. One is that, where a parol contemporaneous agreement is the inducing and moving cause of a written contract, or where a parol agreement forms part of the consideration for a written contract, and it appears that the written contract was executed on the faith of the parol contract or representations, then such evidence is admissible. 3 Jones on Evidence (2d Ed.) par. 1492"

"But it clearly appears from the evidence that the acceptance of the check was induced by a contemporaneous parol agreement which went to the very heart of the consideration. Though the check was absolute in form and was manually delivered, it was given and

accepted upon the express condition that it was to represent a fund that was at all times to belong to respondent. As to \$500 of the proceeds to be derived from the collection of the \$1,000 check, the bank was not to mingle that amount with its general funds, but was to convert it into \$50 bills to be held for respondent. The situation was exactly the same as though respondent had left with the bank \$500 in silver or in small denominations of currency to be converted into ten bills of \$50 each and held for him in its converted form. Certainly, in the latter instance, it would be considered as a trust fund."

" The terms of the check were not, under the peculiar circumstances, inconsistent with the contemporaneous agreement between the parties. The parol agreement was separate and distinct from the agreement implied by the check. Although an agreement between parties is reduced to writing, the law does not merge into the writing prior or contemporaneous agreements which are distinct, valid, and not in conflict with the writing. 3 Jones on Evidence (2d ed.) sec. 1440, p. 2712. The contemporaneous agreement did not, in this instance, become merged in the agreement implied by the check."

In such case it is not necessary to allege that the oral agreement was omitted because of fraud, accident, or mistake, as is shown by *Champlin v. Transport Motor Company* (1934) 177 Wash. 659, 33 P2d 82. In that case, the plaintiff, who was a salesman of the defendant, entered into a contemporaneous oral agreement with defendant that defendant would hold plaintiff harmless in financing a new car. Relying upon this oral arrangement, plaintiff bought a new car, turned his old one in on same, and signed a conditional sales agreement to complete the transaction. It

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